THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From The Administrative Law Court

Honorable Ralph K. Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001554

RECEIVED
JAN 10 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STEWART BUCHANAN, #69848APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF
PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICESRESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. BLUME #747

Cornell Law School
159 Charles Evans Hughes Hall
Ithaca, NY 14853
(607) 255-1030

HANNAH L. FREEDMAN #103373

LINDSEY VANN #101408

MEGAN BARNES #104368

Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave, Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. In light of the legal sea change applicable to juvenile sentencing over the past decade, does due process require the Parole Board to adopt a set of procedures specific to juvenile offenders in order to protect their constitutional right to live “some years of life outside prison walls,” *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736–37 (2016)?
2. Does Stewart Buchanan’s continued incarceration of forty-seven years for a crime he committed as a juvenile, despite demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation, constitute disproportionate punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stewart Buchanan has been an inmate in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) for forty-seven years—since he was seventeen-years old—which gives him the distinction of being the longest continuously incarcerated juvenile in this state. *See Buchanan v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole & Pardon Servs.*, Supplemental Record on Appeal at 122, 133 (S.C. Admin. Law Court March 12, 2019) (hereinafter S.R.). He has been denied parole eighteen times since first becoming parole eligible in 1983. S.R. 281–98. As will be discussed in more detail below, the denials cannot be justified by his institutional record, which overall has been quite satisfactory. The last fifteen parole denials were not a reflection of poor prison behavior or a defect in his re-entry plan, but rather were based exclusively on the one thing he cannot change: the facts and circumstances of his offense. *See* S.R. 281–98.¹

¹ In 1973 when Stewart was seventeen years old, he was charged with, and shortly thereafter pled guilty to, the murder of his neighbor, forty-three-year-old Ariene Boone. S.R. 113–16, 122. The basic facts are not in dispute. Stewart, disoriented from a mix of alcohol, drugs, and lack of sleep, climbed through his neighbor's window in the early morning hours of May 18, 1973. *See* S.R. 7–8, 18, 122. Ms. Boone saw him, called Stewart’s name, and climbed out of another window onto her porch. S.R. 122–23. Stewart followed her out the window and when she ran into the yard and began yelling his mother's name, he stabbed her to

Stewart's most recent parole hearing was held on November 15, 2018. S.R. 299. The packet he sent to Board members contained ample information, detailed below, linking his offense to the transient qualities of youth and further demonstrating that he not only is suitable for release but that he is ready and able to be successful if granted parole.

Stewart's upbringing was marked by neglect and emotional and physical abuse. Stewart's father was an alcoholic who drifted from job to job and place to place and was absent from Stewart's life for long stretches of time. S.R. 4. When he was physically present, he either ignored Stewart or beat him, sometimes with his hand to Stewart's face, sometimes with a belt. S.R. 4. His mother also failed him. She was highly critical of Stewart and the rest of his siblings, offering little emotional support, kindness, or warmth. S.R. 4. His parents' behavior and detachment left Stewart's older sister Janet to serve as a stand-in parent, until she, too, abandoned Stewart. S.R. 4-5. When Stewart was still a young teenager, Janet met a boy, ran away from home, got married, got divorced, and remarried a man with whom she travelled the country in a stolen car, writing bad checks and running up debt under the Buchanan family address. S.R. 6. Left without the one person to whom he felt emotionally connected, Stewart fell in with an older crowd and began to drink and use drugs in an attempt to cope with his home life and emotional trauma. S.R. 6-7. As Dr. Susan Knight, PhD., a licensed forensic clinical psychologist who evaluated Stewart, explained, it is against this backdrop of "social and neurobiological immaturity," "severe[] intoxicat[ion]" and

death. S.R. 123. Stewart's father called the police. *Id.* Stewart was taken into custody later the same day and, when questioned by law enforcement, gave a full confession (which included the location of the murder weapon). S.R. 127.

compromised “reasoning, judgment and impulse control” that nearly fifty years ago Stewart committed the crime for which he is still incarcerated.² See S.R. 32.

Only four months after his arrest, Stewart entered a guilty plea, expressed his deep, sincere remorse, and accepted the (then) mandatory minimum sentence for murder: life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after ten years. S.R. 132–33. At the sentencing hearing, the trial judge acknowledged that Stewart’s crime was the product of a “tragic situation” and expressed his hope that Stewart could “salvage some phase of his life.” S.R. 133. His attorney advised him, based on the then-existing practice of the Parole Board, that if he maintained a good institutional record, he would likely be granted parole when, or not long after, he first became parole eligible. S.R. 8–9. When he entered his guilty plea at age 17, Stewart reasonably believed, based on then established parole board practice, that he would be granted parole after serving 10 years (or soon thereafter). S.R. 8–9. Nearly fifty years later, however, Stewart remains in prison.

During his incarceration, Stewart has become a role model in the prison community. He has had relatively few infractions, and those he has received came primarily in his teenage and young-adult years, before he matured.³ S.R. 12, 20. He has taught other prisoners how to read and

² The circumstances leading up to and surrounding Stewart’s offense specifically involved the factors that a sentencing court must consider before sentencing a juvenile to life in prison without parole. See *infra* Section I; *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 544, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014) (quoting *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477–78 (2012)). Stewart was a young man who did not feel at home with his family and this yearning to belong made him extremely susceptible to the pressures of his peers and the escapism provided to him by drugs and alcohol. See S.R. 18.

³ For example, Stewart’s sole assault charge, which did not involve a weapon, happened in November 1988. S.R. 20. He also had two non-assaultive charges, also without a weapon, when he was attempting to help his long-term, mentally ill roommate through psychotic episodes on April 11, 2011 and October 5, 2016. S.R. 20, 27. He had one issue on a pass, a DUI in 1981, for which he was ordered to pay a fine by the magistrate’s court, but he has not been charged for any substance use or contraband ownership in decades. S.R. 20. Although Stewart spent significant time in the community on work release, he has had no attempted escapes and no criminal charges or convictions except for the DUI. S.R. 20. In short, his record is excellent,

write, served as a teacher's aide, and taught his own courses on various subjects. S.R. 10. He participated in the community outside the prison walls as well, from speaking to schoolchildren about the dangers of drug use through the "Get Smart" program to raising \$350 for citizens with intellectual disability. S.R. 19, 21. He taught himself how to sew, participated in a film used by criminal justice organizations, and volunteered for church community service when he was allowed to leave on passes. S.R. 11, 20. Stewart worked three civilian jobs in the community in a work-release program, has earned almost 1,500 hours in vocational training, and has held thirty-six work positions⁴ within the prison. S.R. 19–20. Since January 2018, he has been confined at Perry Correctional Institute in the "Lifers Rehabilitation Program." S.R. 19. This is a character-based housing unit (CHU) which is only available to inmates who have been, and remain, disciplinary incident free. S.R. 11. He also was accepted into and completed JumpStart, a prison ministry and re-entry program. S.R. 13.

Stewart also presented the Board with evidence of a viable release plan. He had arranged housing and employment in Spartanburg as a result of receiving a "blue folder" recommendation from JumpStart (the highest level, given to less than 2% of graduates). S.R. 23. This guaranteed that if Stewart were released, he would receive two years of support from pastors and therapists as well as access to housing and vocational support. S.R. 23.

especially considering that he entered SCDC as a teenager and has spent his entire adult life behind bars.

⁴ Stewart has been incarcerated for 47 years, and therefore, on average has held each job for approximately 1.3 years. Never one to be idle, Stewart has taken advantage of learning new jobs and gaining new skills moving up to different levels of jobs and to different types of jobs as he has moved around to different SCDC facilities during the length of his incarceration. The number of job opportunities he has been given speaks to his ability to learn new skills and adapt to whatever is asked of him. If he was not fulfilling the requirements of these jobs, he would not continually be given new and different job opportunities spanning last four decades.

In addition, Dr. Knight's psychological evaluation included the administration of an empirically-validated risk assessment,⁵ from which Dr. Knight concluded that Stewart posed a low risk for re-offending, especially with continued substance abuse treatment. S.R. 27, 33. According to Dr. Knight, Stewart "demonstrate[s] good insight into the adverse developmental factors facilitating his substance abuse as a teenager, which in turn, was heavily implicated in the offense." S.R. 32. Stewart has "taken full responsibility [for his crime], with expressions of remorse throughout his records and interviews," and ministers who have worked with Stewart in recent years told Dr. Knight that he is "[g]enuine, looking for change," "a shining example of what a man can do," and deserving of an opportunity outside of prison. S.R. 16, 23, 32, 33.

Prior to the hearing, Stewart's attorney sent a letter to the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP) describing the sea change in constitutional law applicable to juvenile life sentences. *See, e.g., Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Those opinions, counsel explained, constitutionalized the principle that "children are different" from adults for sentencing and parole purposes. S.R. 193–97. These differences mean that the decision whether to incarcerate a juvenile for life (and thus whether to grant a juvenile parole) must consider the class characteristics of youth identified by the courts as well as any individual mitigating circumstances associated with the case. Counsel explained that because the judge who sentenced Stewart did not have the benefit of those decisions, and because South Carolina has not granted resentencing hearings to juveniles sentenced to life with parole, it was now incumbent on the Board to take those same factors into account in deciding whether to grant him parole. S.R. 195. Specifically,

⁵ The HCR-20^{v3} is an interview and assessment tool designed to assess an individual's risk of future violence. It includes twenty items that measure past, present and future risk. S.R. 27.

counsel requested that the Board consider Stewart's age, immaturity, intellectual capacity, and home environment at the time of the offense; the circumstances of the offense and how they were affected by the hallmark features of youth; the culpability of juveniles compared to that of adults; and how Stewart's youth affected his interactions with law enforcement, counsel and the criminal justice system. S.R. 195.

In response, attorneys for the PPP assured Stewart that the Board would consider "factors that he was a juvenile at the time he committed the offense," as well as "any other mitigating evidence." S.R. 199. But they did not. Following Stewart's parole hearing, one of many heard that day,⁶ the Board "deliberated" for less than a minute (forty-three seconds). No member of the Board indicated that Stewart's status as a juvenile offender played any role in their consideration of his application for parole, and the Board denied Stewart parole for the eighteenth time based solely on the circumstances of the impulsive crime that Stewart committed as a teenager almost five decades ago. S.R. 303-04.

Stewart challenged the Board's ruling in the Administrative Law Court (ALC), but the ALC dismissed his appeal, leaning heavily on *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 499, 661 S.E.2d 111 (2008), which held that when the Board "deviates from or renders its decision without consideration of the appropriate criteria, it essentially abrogates an inmate's right to parole eligibility and, thus, infringes on a state-created liberty interest." *Buchanan v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 18-ALJ-15-0039-AP (S.C. Admin. Law Court Aug. 13, 2019). This interest, the ALC reasoned, does not exist in the context of a "routine denial

⁶ See South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, *Parole & Pardon Hearings*, https://www.dppps.sc.gov/FAQ#parole_pardon_hearings (last accessed January 2, 2020) ("The Parole Board hears up to 70 cases per day so their time is limited.").

or granting of parole” and such a denial is therefore “not appealable unless the inmate can show that he was ‘rendered ineligible for parole due to the procedure employed by the Parole Board.’” *Id.* at 4 (quoting *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 495–96, 661 S.E.2d at 106, 110). Thus, the ALC concluded, its hands were tied. Although no decision maker has ever fully considered Stewart’s youth, vulnerability, and later rehabilitation, and although the Board has no formal procedure for doing so, the ALC deemed the Board’s actions comported with “the minimum constitutional due process requirements outlined in *Cooper*” because its denial letter included an assurance that it had considered the factors outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. *Id.* at 4, 15.

In sum, despite Stewart’s suitability for parole on all matrixes, the Board, after no meaningful deliberation, denied parole for the eighteenth time based on a single parole factor: “nature and seriousness of current offense.” S.R. 298. Stewart’s most recent denial makes two things clear: (1) the Board’s latest decision, affirmed by the ALC, violated Stewart’s rights under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution, and due process because the Board failed to give constitutionally appropriate weight to the fact that children are constitutionally different; and, (2) because Stewart’s last fifteen parole denials, spanning over thirty years, have been based on the unchangeable nature and circumstances of the offense, the Board is never going to grant him parole.

Thus, this case does not involve a routine denial of parole, and this Court has jurisdiction to remedy the constitutional violations in either of two ways. The Court could order another parole hearing at which the Board is mandated to give meaningful consideration to the “hallmark characteristics of youth,” as defined by the United States and South Carolina Supreme Courts,

based on a complete presentation from Stewart’s attorneys. Alternatively, and more appropriately, this Court could order the Board to grant Stewart parole because, as a juvenile “whose crime[] reflected only transient immaturity” and not “irreparable corruption[],” Stewart is entitled to live “some years of life outside prison walls.” See *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736–37 (2016).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has jurisdiction to review an appeal from an ALC’s decision. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(A)(1). This Court may reverse or modify an ALC’s decision if the appellant’s substantive rights have been prejudiced because the ALC’s “finding, conclusion, or decision is . . . in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions . . . or arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” *Id.* § 1-23-610(B).

ARGUMENT

I. THERE HAS BEEN A FOUNDATIONAL SHIFT IN THE SUBSTANTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW APPLICABLE TO JUVENILE SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS.

Since 2005, the United States Supreme Court has fundamentally altered the relationship between juvenile offenders and the criminal justice system, steadily shifting juvenile offenders into a distinct category from adult offenders, warranting them unique protections and considerations with respect to punishment. The new legal regime shift is grounded in the principle that emerged in *Roper v. Simmons*—juveniles are different, and therefore must be treated differently. 543 U.S. 551 (2005). Ultimately, this recategorization of juveniles has changed the standards of proportionality required by the Eighth Amendment when meting out punishments for this class of offenders, and in turn, has new due process implications

This paradigm shift in the juvenile sentencing landscape began with *Roper v. Simmons*, in which the Court reversed its prior decision in *Stanford v. Kentucky*, 492 U.S. 361 (1989) and held that juveniles, as a class, have categorically reduced moral culpability to such an extent that to execute a person for a crime committed as a juvenile would violate the Eighth Amendment. 543 U.S. at 574. The *Roper* Court reviewed then-available scientific research on juvenile development⁷ from which it distilled three characteristics that differentiate juveniles from adult offenders:

- 1) Children “lack maturity and responsibility and are more reckless than adults,” which leads to “impetuous and ill-considered actions,” *id.* at 569;
- 2) Children are “more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures,” “have less control . . . over their environment,” and “lack the freedom that adults have to extricate themselves from a criminogenic setting,” *id.*; and
- 3) Children's characters are “not as well formed as th[ose] of an adult,” and their personalities are “more transitory” and “less fixed.” Therefore, “it is less supportable to conclude that even a heinous crime committed by a juvenile is evidence of irretrievably depraved character,” *id.* at 570.

In light of these class-wide traits that reduce all juveniles' moral culpability, the Court held that the penalty of death was a disproportionate punishment for a juvenile offender. *Id.* at 572–73.

Next, in *Graham v. Florida*, the Court was confronted with a juvenile sentenced to life without parole who, while on parole for a separate burglary, broke into a house, held the occupants at gunpoint while ransacking the house searching for money, and then refused to surrender, leading police on a high-speed chase. 560 U.S. 48, 55 (2010). Notwithstanding the severity of Graham's offenses, the Court reiterated that “developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds,” and therefore, life without parole is a

⁷ *E.g.*, Erik Erikson, *IDENTITY: YOUTH AND CRISIS* (1968); Jeffrey Arnett, *Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective*, 12 *DEVELOPMENTAL REV.* 339 (1992); Laurence Steinberg & Elizabeth S. Scott, *Less Guilty by Reason of Adolescence: Developmental Immaturity, Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty*, 58 *AM. PSYCHOLOGIST* 1009 (2003).

disproportionate punishment for juveniles who commit non-homicide offenses. *Id.* at 68. Instead, the Court explained that due to their lesser culpability, juvenile offenders are “less deserving of the most severe punishments,” and thus, under most circumstances, must be given a “realistic” and “meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” *Id.* at 74–75.

In its third major juvenile sentencing decision, the Court held that juveniles found guilty of murder may not be subjected to mandatory life without parole sentences. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 489. In cases where a juvenile is facing life without parole, the Court held that the Eighth Amendment requires an individualized sentencing hearing, similar to the penalty phase of a capital trial. *Id.* Again, like in *Roper* and *Graham*, the *Miller* Court reiterated that a juvenile’s age and the “wealth of characteristics and circumstances attendant to it” are mitigating factors that the criminal justice system must, at some point, consider. *Id.* at 476.⁸

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