STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Ralph K. Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge
Docket Number 18-ALJ-15-0039-AP

Appellant Case No.: 2019-001554

RECEIVED
MAY 04 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STEWART BUCHANAN, #69848.....APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew C. Buchanan
General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 20202
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court

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

ARGUMENTS

1. Due process does not mandate that the Parole Board change its processes to give special consideration to inmates who committed their offenses as juveniles.

A. Juvenile defendants get special consideration at sentencing, not parole hearings.

The Appellant argues that there has been a shift in the Constitutional Law as it relates to the sentencing of defendants who committed their crimes as juveniles. This is absolutely true when it comes to sentencing. However, there is no similar shift when it comes to parole hearings.

Defendants who commit their crimes as juveniles may not be sentenced to death.¹ *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). They may not be sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for non-homicide offenses.² *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). And they may not be sentenced to life without the possibility of parole for homicide under a mandatory sentencing scheme.³ *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). Furthermore, the *Miller* decision was held to be a substantive rule of constitutional law, and was therefore to be applied retroactively. *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016). These U.S. Supreme Court cases in the last fifteen years have admittedly changed the way juvenile defendants may be sentenced in this country.

Although the *Miller* decision limited its holding to mandatory sentencing schemes that required life without the possibility of parole, the South Carolina Supreme Court ordered resentencing of all juveniles who received a life without parole sentence. *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). The offense of murder without aggravating circumstances committed

¹ "The Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid imposition of the death penalty on offenders who were under the age of 18 when their crimes were committed." *Roper*, 534 U.S. at 578.

² "This Court now holds that for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 74.

³ "We therefore hold that the Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479.

after January 1, 1996, carries a possible penalty of thirty years to life without the possibility of parole (LWOP). S.C. Code §16-3-20(A). Even if the sentence was not LWOP but a term of years, the defendant is not eligible for parole. S.C. Code §24-13-100.

The Court in *Aiken* extended resentencing hearings to those inmates who committed their offenses as a juvenile and received a sentence of LWOP. Basing its ruling on *Miller*, the Court ordered that sentencing court must consider:

- (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including “immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence”;
- (2) the “family and home environment” that surrounded the offender;
- (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him;
- (4) the “incompetencies associated with youth—for example, [the offender's] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender's] incapacity to assist his own attorneys”;
- and (5) the “possibility of rehabilitation.”

Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

After considering these factors, the court may still sentence the defendant to LWOP. However, LWOP may only be the sentence after the court has considered an individualized hearing exploring the “hallmark features of youth.” *Id.* at 545, 578.

The Appellant reasons that the above-cited cases as a whole show a number of constitutional principles that change the due process requirements of parole hearings as well. He cites to a number of different states that have made such changes to their parole decisions and urges this Court to make a similar ruling. He argues that the laws have created a new liberty interest in actually receiving parole, rather than the opportunity for parole hearings.

This “sea change” is not so pervasive as the Appellant would make out, however. He did not take into consideration the cases that have blocked the “sea change” in juvenile sentencing that he claims is so pervasive throughout the country.

For example, our Supreme Court in *State v. Slocumb*, 426 S.C. 297, 827 S.E.2d 148, (2019) looked at a sentence that carried a term of years instead of a LWOP, even one that amounted to a de facto life sentence. Slocumb was sentenced to a total of 130 years of incarceration without the possibility of parole for a series of brutal non-homicide offenses. In weighing its reasoning against *Graham v. Florida* rather than *Miller v. Alabama* because of the non-homicide nature of the offenses, the Court determined that because *Graham* specifically prohibited life without parole for non-homicide cases committed by juveniles, the case was distinguishable. “[W]e decline to extend *Graham*’s explicit holding based solely on the general rationale underlying the opinion without further input from the Supreme Court as to how the Eighth Amendment applies to situations where a juvenile nonhomicide offender commits multiple crimes against multiple victims at multiple points in time.” *Id.* at 312, 827 S.E.2d at 156.

If the wave of change to the way juveniles could be sentenced was truly so inexorable as the Appellant insists, the Supreme Court would not have made such a ruling in *Slocumb*.

As another matter, the *Miller v. Alabama* opinion and its progeny do not contemplate or address South Carolina law as it existed prior to January 1, 1996. The current law gives a sentencing judge discretion over the sentence for murder, from thirty years up to life in prison without the possibility of parole.

Prior to January 1, 1996, however, South Carolina’s murder statute provided for a different punishment. The court could only sentence the defendant – juvenile or adult – to life, but *with* the possibility of parole. At the time of the Appellant’s offense, South Carolina law provided parole eligibility after the service of ten years. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20(1976).

The Appellant received at sentencing the very solution that *Montgomery v. Alabama* prescribed for LWOP sentences. “A State may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile

homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them.” 136 S.Ct. at 736. The U.S. Supreme Court could have suggested that the *Miller* factors be used in by the authorities deciding parole, but declined to do so.

In the absence of such a mandate, there is no requirement that the South Carolina Parole Board change its practices and apply the *Miller-Aiken* factors to parole consideration. The South Carolina Supreme Court mandated those five factors be considered by the *sentencing* court. “*Miller* requires the sentencing authority “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (quoting *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2469).

A more closely aligned case the Court of Appeals is found in *State v. Finley*, 427 S.C. 419, 831 S.E.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2019). This inmate, who like the Appellant, committed his murder when he was a juvenile and received a parole-eligible life sentence. However, his parole eligibility was to commence after thirty years of incarceration due to the law at the time of his offense in 1992. *Id.* at 422, n. 2.

Finley argued unsuccessfully that his life sentence with the possibility of parole after thirty years constituted a de facto life sentence and entitled him to a resentencing under *Aiken*. The Court of Appeals, citing the remedy in *Montgomery*, held that his parole eligibility cured any Eighth Amendment violations. Furthermore, the court did not prescribe any special considerations for the Parole Board when Finley receives his parole hearings.

B. The Board’s reliance on the facts of the offense do not violate Due Process.

The Appellant also argues that the Board’s denial of parole for its stated reasons of 1) nature and seriousness of the offense; 2) indication of violence; and 3) use of a deadly weapon

violates due process because those factors are unchanging events in the past. He argues that because the Board denied him based on those factors, that the Board is giving him a de facto life sentence.

This is simply not the case, as the Parole Board followed the procedures outlined by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). The order of denial in the present case clearly reveals that all of the criteria as well as the risk assessment were considered prior to denial. Once this is revealed, there are no grounds for appeal.⁴ Since due process was provided, the ALC is limited in any decision that could be made regarding the final decision of the Parole Board.

Pursuant to South Carolina law and *Cooper*, all that must be revealed is a finding of fact and conclusion of law separately stated.⁵ The Board is not required to describe the underlying thought process as to why the decision was made. As long as the letter of rejection states a reason or reasons for denial and that the Board considered the criteria and risk assessment, the order is valid.

The Administrative Law Court correctly affirmed the Board's decision to deny parole. Under Section 1-23-350, a finding of fact and conclusion of law need not be presented in any particular format but need only be sufficiently detailed to enable the reviewing court to determine whether the fact findings are supported by evidence and whether the law has been correctly applied. *Cloyd v. Mabry*, 295 S.C. 86, 367 S.E.2d 171 (S.C. App. 1988). The order of denial clearly

⁴ The Parole Board clearly stated in its notice of rejection that it considered the statutory criteria and the criteria set forth in Form 1212 which is sufficient under *Cooper. Compton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 385 S.C. 476, 684 S.E.2d 175 (2009).

⁵ A final decision shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law separately stated. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-350 (2018).

stated that the mandatory criteria and risk assessment was considered which would be a conclusion of law. The reasons for denial were lawful and reasonable, which is considered a finding of fact.

The Appellant argues that because the Board has denied his request for parole based on the facts and circumstances of the offense – which is fixed in the past and cannot be changed – that the Board has therefore permanently denied him parole. He advances the theory that because the Board denied him for that reason, that they will never change their minds and that they will forever deny him parole. This, clearly, is not correct. Each time he appears before the Board, he is provided with a real opportunity for parole before the only body in the state that is authorized to grant parole. The Appellant also fails to consider that the Board roster changes over time..

The Board is obviously not beholden to its previous decisions. Otherwise, an inmate would only have one meaningful chance at parole and then be forever denied until the completion of his or her sentence. The Code, also, requires that the inmate receive hearings following a denial of parole. S.C. Code § 24-21-645(D). Just because the Appellant hasn't received parole yet doesn't mean he never will.

2. The prohibitions on cruel and unusual punishment in the Eighth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution are not violated by repeated denials of parole, even for inmates who committed their offenses as juveniles.

The Appellant argues that he is being punished disproportionately because as a former juvenile offender, he has served a longer period of time incarcerated than an inmate who committed his offense as an adult.

A. The Eighth Amendment.

This idea that juvenile offenders serve a disproportionate sentence because they presumably have a longer life with which to serve, admittedly does factor into the U.S. Supreme

Court's limitations on life *without* parole. However, the Court has specifically not concluded that the juvenile offender *must* therefore receive parole. "A State is not required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a nonhomicide crime." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75.

If the Supreme Court specifically allowed for a non-homicide juvenile offender to conceivably never be granted parole, then clearly a juvenile offender who committed homicide may indeed never be granted parole.

This also follows from the Court's allowance that there may be a "rare juvenile offender who exhibits such irretrievable depravity that rehabilitation is impossible and life without parole is justified." *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 733.

The U.S. Supreme Court has not held that inmates who committed their crimes as juveniles must be eventually paroled. The Appellant has quoted *Montgomery* as somehow implying that conclusion, saying that he is guaranteed "some years of life outside prison walls." *Id.* at 737. However, he only quotes a part of that sentence, which reads more completely that, "prisoners like Montgomery must be given the opportunity to show their crime did not reflect irreparable corruption; and if it did not, *their hope for some years of life outside prison walls must be restored.*" *Id.* at 736-737 (emphasis added). The Court extended hope for release, but not a guarantee of release.

In conclusion, despite the "legal sea change" for juvenile offenders that Appellant asserts, there is no constitutional or inherent right of a convicted person to be conditionally released before the expiration of a valid sentence. *Greenholtz v. Inmates of Nebraska Penal and Correctional Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 99 S.Ct. 2100 (1979).

B. The South Carolina Constitution.

The Appellant argues that grammatically, the South Carolina Constitution is different and more expansive than the Eighth Amendment. By prohibiting “cruel *or* unusual punishment” instead of “cruel and unusual punishment,” he argues, South Carolina affords a greater protection against such penalties. S.C. Const. Art. I, §15.

However, despite the argument and diligent research the Appellant has provided, he cannot say that South Carolina has ever granted inmates the right to parole. Instead, South Carolina courts have consistently held that parole is a privilege, not a right. See *Sullivan v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 127 n. 4 (2003), citing *Furtick v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 352 S.C. 594, 598, 576 S.E.2d 146, 149 (2003).

In the event that this Court holds that the South Carolina Constitution does provide more protection than the Eighth Amendment, the State still submits that it does not go so far as to give inmates who committed their crimes as juveniles the right to parole. Furthermore, the State submits that the Board’s current parole consideration criteria factors in the youth of the inmate and the other factors found in *Aiken v. Byars*. Because the circumstances surrounding the underlying crime are always considered, the age of the Appellant is also a circumstance that existed during the commission of the offense.

In *Aiken*, the Court ruled that a juvenile cannot be sentenced to a life without parole sentence unless the Defendant receives an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored. *Aiken*, at 578. A parole hearing, while not a sentencing hearing, is an individualized hearing. The age of the Appellant at the time the crime was committed is one of many factors surrounding the facts and circumstances of the crime. The General

Assembly created mandatory criteria that must be considered prior to each final decision. The South Carolina Code of Laws specifically state:

The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that, in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (2018).

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